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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA CLERK U'S. DIST. CT.
S.D. OF FLA.- MIAMI
KENNETH SCHNEIDER, LINDA )
SHAFFER, ALAN BRESLOW and )
GINNIFER GEE, on behalf of )
themselves and all others similarly )
situated, )
) CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
Plaintiffs, )
) CASE NO.
\2 )
) JURY DEMAND
DEUTSCHE BANK NATIONAL )
TRUST COMPANY, U.S. BANK )  10-CV-80259-Zloch/Rosenbaum
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, LENDER )
PROCESSING SERVICES, INC. and )
DOCX, LLC. )
)
Defendants. )

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
Plaintiffs KENNETH SCHNEIDER, LINDA SHAFFER, ALAN BRESLOW and
GINNIFER GEE by and through their undersigned attorneys, bring this action pursuant to
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 23 on behalf of themselves and all others similarly
situated against Defendants, DEUTSCHE BANK NATIONAL TRUST COMPANY, U.S.
BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, LENDER PROCESSING SERVICES, INC. and DOCX,
LLC. and allege as follows:

I. INTRODUCTION

1. This is an action for violation of the Federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act,
15 U.S.C. §1692¢ (2) (A), (5) and (10), brought by one or more classes of mortgagors who have
been sued for foreclose on their residential properties.

2. Many homeowners in foreclosure actions find that they have been sued for

foreclosure by a bank called the “Trustee for the Certificate Holders” of a Home Loan Trust. In
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such cases, the bank/trustee filing the foreclosure complaint may not be known to the
homeowner. The very first time most homeowners learn that their home was part of a publicly-
traded home loan trust is when they are served with the foreclosure complaint.

3. In the past ten years, hundreds of thousands of residential mortgages were
bundled together (often in groups of about 5,000 mortgages), and investors were offered the
opportunity to buy shares of each bundle. This process is called securitization.

4. Each such bundle of residential mortgages was given a name, such as "XYZ
Home Loan Trust 2006 ABC-2." The name indicates information about the particular trust such
as the year it was created (2006) and its contents (with ABC indicating by whom the loans in that
particular trust were originally made).

5. The Home Loan Trust has a Pooling and Servicing Agreement (“PSA”). The PSA
sets forth what happens after the mortgages are bundled together. The PSA also sets a Cut Off
Date. The Cut Off Date is the date on which all mortgage loans in the trust must be identified.
In short, a final list of all of the mortgages in the bundle is set out.

6. Under the PSA, the Originator sells the bundle of mortgages to an entity known as
a “depositor.” The depositor then sells the bundle of mortgages to an “Underwriter,” the
company that issues the certificates that show that the investors hold a beneficial interest in the
trust. In short, the mortgage has gone from the Originator, to the Depositor to the Underwriter to
the Trust.

7. Each trust also has a Closing Date which is the date that the individual mortgages
are transferred to the Trust Custodian, who must certify that for each mortgage, the custodian has
a mortgage note endorsed in blank and proof that the ownership of the note has been transferred.

This proof is most often an Assignment of Mortgage. Most trusts included the following or
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equivalent language regarding the Assignments: “Assignments of the Mortgage Loans to the
Trustee (or its nominee) will not be recorded in any jurisdiction, but will be delivered to the
Trustee in recordable form, so that they can be recorded in the event recordation is necessary in
connection with the servicing of a Mortgage Loan.’

8. Some of the mortgages in the Home Loan Trust inevitably go into default and
eventual foreclose. The Trustee claims in the foreclosure actions that it has acquired the loan
from the Originator. However, the Trustee never mentions the intervening transfers and never
proves that such transfers lawfully occurred. In the rush to create these trusts and sell shares to
investors, Assignments were never prepared, filed and recorded. This means that the entity
seeking to foreclose can never prove the chain of ownership. In these cases, the Originator
retains the right to service the loans for a fee. The homeowner has no idea that it is
corresponding and negotiating with a mortgage loan servicer instead of a mortgage loan owner.

9. When widespread defaulis occurred, Trustees and their lawyers discovered in the
foreclosure process that the Assignments could not actually be located, or that certain states did
not allow blank Assignments or Assignments with retroactive effective dates. To solve the
problem of the missing Assignments, new Assignments were made and recorded. Most of these
Assignments did not set forth the actual date that the Assignment took place. The Assignments
were signed and notarized as if the transfer took place many years after the actual transfer date.

10.  The Assignments were prepared by specially selected law firms and companies
that specialized in providing "mortgage default services" to banks and mortgage companies. In
Florida and other jurisdictions with a high rate of mortgage defaults, over 80% of the filed
Mortgage Assignments in the last three years were prepared and filed by the same five or six law

firms and default processing companies.
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11.  Repeatedly, two such Assignments were prepared and filed. The first was
prepared in the name of one entity as “nominee” for the particular bank or mortgage company.
When the first entity’s authority to file foreclosures and Assignments was challenged, an
Assignment was prepared in the name of a second entity.

12.  Inall of these cases, the Assignment is prepared to conceal the actual date that the
property was acquired by the Trust. An examination of the Assignments filed showing the
grantee as the Trust — such as “XYZ Home Loan Trust 2006 — ABC 2” — shows that most of
these Assignments were prepared and filed in 2008 and 2009, when, in reality, the mortgages and
notes were actually assigned prior to the closing date of the Trust. While the exact closing date
can only be determined by looking at the trust documents, any Trust that includes the year in
2006 in its title closed in 2006.

13.  If a Mortgage Assignment is dated, notarized and filed in a year after the year set
forth in the name of the grantee trust on the Assignment, it is actually an Assignment specially,
and in many cases, fraudulently, made to facilitate foreclosures.

14.  These Specially-Made Assignments have created havoc in the courts. In many
cases, the Specially-made Assignments are dated AFTER the foreclosure action has been
initiated, making it appear that the Trust somehow magically knew prior to the assignment that it
would acquire the defaulting property several months after the foreclosure action was initiated.

15.  Repeatedly, courts have asked Trustees to explain why they were acquiring non-
performing loans and whether such acquisition was a violation of the trustee’s fiduciary duty to
the Trust. No Trustee has ever come forth and explained that the Trust actually acquired the loan

years before the Assignment. As a result, there are many decisions with observations similar to
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this observation made by Judge Arthur M. Schack of Kings County, New York, in HSBC Bank v.
Valentin, 21 Misc. 3d 1124 [A]:

Further, according to plaintiff’s application, the default of defendants
Valentin and Ruiz began with the nonpayment of principal and interest
due on January 1, 2007. Yet, four months later, plaintiff HSBC was
willing to take an assignment of the instant nonperforming loan. The Court
wonders why HSBC would purchase a nonperforming loan, four months
in arrears?

16. In Deutsche Bank National Trust Co. v. Harris, Judge Arthur M. SCHACK,

Kings, New York, Index No. 39192/2007 (05 FEB 2008):

Further, the Court requires an explanation from an officer of plaintiff
DEUTSCHE BANK as to why, in the middle of our national sub-prime
mortgage financial crisis, DEUTSCHE BANK would purchase a non-
performing loan from INDYMAC...

17. In Massachusetts in October, 2009, Land Court Judge Keith Long reaffirmed a
March, 2009, ruling that a lender cannot begin foreclosure proceedings before the lender has
filed and recorded the Assignment, stating:

The blank mortgage assignments they possessed transferred nothing...in
Massachusetts, a mortgage is a conveyance of land. Nothing is conveyed
unless and until it is validly conveyed. The various agreements between
the securitization entities stating that each had a right to an assignment of
the mortgage are not themselves an assignment and they are certainly not
in recordable form. U.S. Bank National Association v. Ibanez,
Massachusetts Land Court Misc. Case No. 384283, consolidated with two
other cases.

18. In cases where the Trust failed to get a valid Assignment, the problem is
complicated by the bankruptcy of the major loan originators, including American Home
Mortgage, Option One Mortgage, and Countrywide Home Loans.

19.  When these big mortgage companies filed for bankruptcy, they did not disclose

the mortgages already sold to the trusts as assets, because the transfers occurred months and

years prior to the bankruptcy filing. Years later, when the Assignments were required for
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foreclosures, a bankruptcy court’s permission was needed to Assign billions of dollars in
mortgages. Most likely in fear that a Bankruptcy Judge would not rubber stamp such a request,
no such permission has ever been sought.

20. In lieu of valid Assignments, Trusts continue to rely on Assignments specially
made by their own law firms and mortgage default service companies.

71.  Aside from the law firms and mortgage servicing companies that fraudulently
produced Assignments, the entities at greatest risk that the fraudulent Assignments scheme will
be exposed are the Title Companies that guaranteed the clear and correct transfer of ownership to
the Trusts. Also at risk are the trust creators themselves and the Trustees. Both groups of
entities have been on notice for several years that the faulty Assignments were likely to
jeopardize the Trusts’ claims to ownership and ability to foreclose in the event of default, yet
have failed to disclose this critical information to trust shareholders and to the SEC.

22.  Defendants, including Deutsche Bank National Trust and U.S. National Bank
Association, as nominal trustee for the holders of mortgage-backed securities, have filed
thousands of foreclosure actions in state and federal courts in Florida, and throughout the United
States, including against the plaintiffs, under false pretenses, without the legal authority to bring
such suits.

23.  Defendants, including DOCX, LLC and LENDER PROCESSING SERVICES,
INC. have assisted Defendants, DEUTSCHE BANK and U.S. BANK, as trustees for hundreds of
securitized trusts containing hundreds of thousands of residential mortgages, in filing foreclosure
actions under false pretenses and without legal authority.

24. Defendants, DEUTSCHE BANK and U.S. BANK, repeatedly filed suit against

Plaintiffs and the putative class members, and in many instances received distributions from the
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sale of their properties, while engaging in one or more of the following unfair and deceptive

trade practices:

a. Defendants, DEUTSCHE BANK and U.S. BANK, have filed, or caused to
be filed, false and fabricated Assignments of Mortgages, prepared by
Defendants, DOCX, LLC and LENDER PROCESSING SERVICES,
INC., in order to foreclose upon residential properties;

b. These Assignments were prepared by Defendants, DOCX, LLC and
LENDER PROCESSING SERVICES, INC., and used false information
regarding the individuals executing such Assignments, holding such
individuals out to be officers of various banks; mortgage companies;
mortgage servicing companies; and Mortgage Electronic Registration
systems, Inc. (“MERS”) as nominee for banks, mortgage companies and
mortgage servicing companies;

c. Defendants, DEUTSCHE BANK and U.S. BANK, used these
Assignments where essential documentation to prove chain of title had not
been obtained;

d. Defendants, DEUTSCHE BANK and U.S. BANK, also filed or caused to
be filed Assignments of Mortgages prepared by Defendants, DOCX, LLC
and LENDER PROCESSING SERVICES, INC., with forged signatures of
individuals purported to be officers of various banks, mortgage companies
and mortgage electronic registrations services;

e. Defendants, DEUTSCHE BANK and U.S. BANK, repeatedly filed
foreclosure actions several months before they acquired any legal interest
in the subject property through an assignment of the mortgage, falsely
claiming that they owned the note executed with the mortgage on the

property;

f. Defendants, DEUTSCHE BANK and U.S. BANK, repeatedly filed
foreclosure actions claiming that they had lost the necessary
documentation, particularly Notes and Mortgages, after acquiring such
documents, when, in fact, they had never possessed such documents;

g. Defendants, DEUTSCHE BANK and U.S. BANK, have filed other altered
or fabricated documents in many foreclosure cases to support their claims
of ownership, including filing multiple Assignments (with different dates,
bank officer signatures, witnesses, and notaries for the same residential

property); and

h. Defendants, DEUTSCHE BANK and U.S. BANK, have repeatedly filed
foreclosure actions, as trustee for the certificate holders of mortgage-
backed securities, where the chain of title has not and cannot be
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established by Defendants, because the necessary assignments were never
prepared, executed and filed in the rush to transform these notes and
mortgages into asset-backed securities — that is, when the notes and
mortgages were transferred from the loan Originator to the Depositor to
the Underwriter to the Securitized Trust.

25.  In this action, plaintiffs seek to recover actual and statutory damages, as well as

attorneys’ fees and costs as permitted by law.

II. PARTIES

26. Plaintiff, KENNETH SCHNEIDER, (“SCHNEIDER”) was and is a resident of
the State of Florida residing in the city of Gainesville, County of Alachua.

27.  Plaintiffs, LINDA SHAFFER and ALAN BRESLOW (“BRESLOW”) were and
are residents of the State of Florida residing in the City of Bradenton, County of Manatee.

28. Plaintiff, GINNIFER GEE, (“GEE”) was and is a resident of the State of Florida
residing in the City of Ocala, County of Marion.

29.  Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and all other members of the
proposed class(es).

30.  Plaintiffs and the members of the putative class(es) did not know or have any
reason to know that the Defendants violated the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(e), causing them to
suffer the injury which is the basis of the action until the Defendant(s) filed the Notice of Filing
the Mortgage Assignment.

31.  Defendant DEUTSCHE BANK NATIONAL TRUST COMPANY (“DBNTC”) is
a national banking association organized and existing under the laws of the United States, with
its principal place of business in Irvine, California, and doing business in the State of Florida.

32. Defendant, DOCX, LLC, (“DOCX”) was and is a Georgia Corporation with its

principal place of business at 601 Riverside Avenue, Jacksonville, Florida 32204.
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33.  Defendant, LENDER PROCESSING SERVICES, INC., (“LPSI”) was and is a
Delaware Corporation, registered to do business in the State of Florida, with its principal place of
business at 601 Riverside Avenue, Jacksonville, Florida. At all times relevant, LPSI was the
parent corporation of Defendant DOCX.

34. Defendant, U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, (“USBNA”) was and is a
national banking association with its principal place of business in Minnesota and doing business
in the State of Florida.

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

35.  The Court has original jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ Fair Debt Collection Practices
Act claim pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331.

36.  This court also has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332
because the named Plaintiffs and the named Defendants are of diverse citizenship, and under 28
U.S.C. § 1332 (d)(2), because this is a class action in which (a) the aggregate amount in
controversy exceeds the sum or value of $5,000,000 exclusive of interests and costs, (b) there
are at least 100 class members, and (c) at least one member of the plaintiff class is a citizen ofa
state other than Florida.

37.  Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 (a) because
Defendants conduct business in Florida, by filing thousands of fabricated Assignments in
thousands of foreclosure actions within this judicial district and because Defendants have
registered agents within this judicial district, within the meaning of 28 U.S.C. § 1391 (a) as

defined in § 1391 (¢).
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IV. FACTUAL ALLEGATION
A. FORCLOSURE ON PLAINTIFF KENNETH SCHNEIDER

38.  On January 26, 2006, Kenneth Schneider refinanced his home at 13229 E. County
Road 1474, Gainesville, Florida, executing a mortgage and note to the original mortgagee, Saxon
Mortgage, Inc.

39. On November 10, 2009, DBNTC sued Plaintiff SCHNEIDER for foreclosure in
Circuit Court in and for Alachua County, Florida. DBNTC sued as “Deutsche Bank Trust
Company Americas as Indenture Trustee for Saxon Asset Securities Trust 2006-1.”

40.  No Assignment was filed with the Complaint for Foreclosure.

41, On November 3, 2009, Jessica Ohde and Rita Knowles, representing themselves
to be Vice President and Assistant Vice President of Saxon Mortgage, Inc., executed an
Assignment of Mortgage, transferring plaintiff SCHNEIDER's property, mortgage and note to
Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas as Indenture Trustee for Saxon Asset Securities Trust
2006-1. (Attached hereto as Exhibit “A”)

42.  This Assignment was prepared by defendant DOCX, and sent by U.S. Mail to the
Clerk of the Court for Alachua County, Florida, where it was filed and recorded on December 3,
2009.

43.  The foreclosure action against SCHNEIDER is still pending.

B. FORCLOSURE ON PLAINTIFF GINNIFER GEE

44. On May 31, 2005, Ginnifer Gee purchased her home at 18781 NE 238th Court,
Fort McCoy, Florida executing a mortgage and note to the original mortgagee, Advent Mortgage,
LLC, a Kentucky, LLC.

45. At a time unknown to plaintiff GEE, Advent Mortgage, LLC transferred

ownership of the note to Option One Mortgage Corporation.
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46. On May 18, 2009, defendant USBNA sued plaintiff GEE for foreclosure in
Circuit Court in and for Marion County, Florida. USBNA sued “as trustee for the structured asset
investment loan trust 2005-10.”

47.  No Assignment was filed with the Complaint for Foreclosure.

48. On July 1, 2009, Korell Harp and Tywanna Thomas, representing themselves to
be Vice President and Assistant Vice President of AHMSI respectively, executed an Assignment
of Mortgage, transferring plaintiff GEE's property, mortgage and note to U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trustee for the Structured Asset Investment Loans Trust, 2005-10. This
Assignment stated that the effective date of the Assignment was January 15, 2009. (Attached
hereto as Group Exhibit “B”)

49.  This Assignment was prepared by defendant DOCX, and sent by U.S. Mail to the
Clerk of the Court for Marion County, Florida, where it was filed and recorded on July 6, 2009.

No copy of this Assignment was sent to Plaintiff GEE at that time.

50.  On October 19, 2009, defendant USBNA filed the Assignment executed on July
1, 2009, in the pending foreclosure action, to establish its standing to file the foreclosure action
and its ownership of plaintiff GEE’s mortgage and note.

51. On December 1, 2009, Shelly Scheffey and Debbie Moonan, representing
themselves to be Vice President and Assistant Secretary of AHMSI, respectively, executed a
second Assignment of Mortgage, transferring plaintiff GEE’s property, mortgage and note
to USBNA, as Trustee for the Structured Asset Investment Loans Trust, 2005-10. This
Assignment stated that the effective date of the Assignment was January 15, 2009. (Attached

hereto as Group Exhibit “B”)
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52.  This second Assignment was also prepared by defendant DOCX, and sent by U.S.
Mail to the Clerk of the Court for Marion County, Florida, where it was filed and recorded on
December 8, 2009. This second assignment was never filed in the foreclosure action or sent to
the plaintiff GEE.

53. The foreclosure action against plaintiff GEE is still pending.

C. FORCLOSURE ON PLAINTIFFS LINDA SHAFFER AND ALAN
BRESLOW

54. On September 21, 2005, Linda L Shaffer and Alan L Breslow (husband and wife),
purchased a house at 15335 Blue Fish Circle, Bradenton, Florida, executing a mortgage and note
to the original mortgagee, American Home Mortgage Acceptance, Inc.

55.  Linda L Shaffer and Alan L Breslow defaulted on their mortgage payments due
to unforeseen financial problems.

56. On April 29, 2009, DBNTC sued Plaintiff Linda L Shaffer and Alan L Breslow
for foreclosure in Circuit Court in and for Manatee County, Florida. DBNTC sued as “Deutsche
Bank Trust Company Americas as Indenture Trustee for American Home Mortgage Investment
Trﬁst 2006-1, Mortgage-Backed Notes series 2006-1.”

57. On May 1, 2009, Korell Harp and Tywanna Thomas, representing themselves to
be Vice President and Assistant Secretary of Mortgage Eelctronic Registration Systems, Inc. as
nominee for American Home Mortgage Acceptance, Inc., executed an Assignment of Mortgage,
transferring plaintiff's mortgage to Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Indenture Trustee
for American Home Mortgage Investment Trust 2006-1, Mortgage-Backed Notes series 2006-1.
The Assignment was filed and recorded by defendant DOCX on May 4, 2009. (Attached hereto

as Exhibit “C”)
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58.  Plaintiff's attorney filed a Motion to Dismiss. DBNTC attorneys took the action
forward to a hearing. Plaintiff's Linda L Shaffer and Alan L Breslow won the dismissal without
prejudice. DBNTC then refiled a Lis Pendens and issued a second summons on September 30,
2009.

59. The foreclosure action against Linda L Shaffer and Alan L Breslow is still
pending.

V. CLASS ALLEGATIONS

60. This Class Action is being filed by the Plaintiffs, pursuant to Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure Rule 23, on behalf of themselves and others similarly situated.

61.  Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and all other persons similarly
situated, as members of a proposed Plaintiff Class. The Class that Plaintiffs seek to represent is
defined as:

All persons seeking damages under Fair Debt Collection Practices Act
against a Defendant who filed a suit for foreclosure in any state or federal
court, either on its own behalf or as trustee for any other persons or
entities, where the Filing of the Notice of Filing the Mortgage Assignment

occurred at some time less than one year prior to the date of this complaint
to the present.

62.  Excluded from the Class are the Defendants in this action, any entity in which
Defendants have a controlling interest, any officers or directors of Defendants, the legal
representatives, heirs, successors, and assigns of Defendants, the Judge assigned to this action
and her or his family.

63.  This action has been brought and may properly be maintained as a class action
under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

64.  This Court may maintain these claims as a class action pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P.

23(b) (1), 23(b) (2), 23(b) (3), and/or 23(c) (4) (A).
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65. Existence of an Identifiable Class - The proposed Class definition is sufficiently
definite so that it is administratively feasible for the Court to determine whether a particular
individual is a member. Court records, land records, and records in the hands of the Defendant
can be referenced to determine or verify Class membership.

66. Numerosity of the Class - Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a) (1): The Class consists of
individuals throughout the United States, making individual joinder impractical, in satisfaction of
Rule 23(a) (1). Class members number in the thousands. The precise number of Class members
and their addresses are unknown to Plaintiffs, but can be obtained from Defendants and from
various court records. Class members can be notified of the pendency of this action based on
those records, or by any means used by ’the Defendants to notify them of the underlying
foreclosure suits. The disposition of the claims of the Class members in a single class action will
provide substantial benefits to all parties and to the Court.

67. Existence of Common Questions of Fact and Law - Fed. R Civ. P. 23(2)(2):
The Class Representatives allege that the questions of law and fact relating to their claims are
common to the claims of the class and that the common claims predominate over any questions
affecting solely individual members, in satisfaction of Rule 23(a)(2). There are questions of law
and fact common to the Class. Moreover, these questions predominate over any questions
affecting only individual Class members. These common legal and factual questions include:

« Whether filing a foreclosure suit without the ability to obtain and record
an assignment of the mortgage and note constitutes false, deceptive or
misleading conduct in violation of 15 U.S.C § 1692¢;

« Whether Plaintiffs and Class members have been injured by Defendant's
conduct;

« Whether all or some of the fees charged against the Class members are
recoverable in this action;
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« Whether Plaintiffs and Class members are entitled to compensatory
damages, and the amount of such damages;

« Whether Plaintiffs and Class members are entitled to statutory damages
and the amount of such damages; and

« Whether filing and pursuing a foreclosure suit using a mortgage
assignment with forged signatures, erroneous information regarding the
authority of the signers, and/or erroneous information regarding the date
the transfer actually occurred constitutes false, deceptive or misleading
conduct in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e.

68.  Typicality - Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a) (3): Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims
of the Class because Defendants initiated suit against them without having an assignment of the
Note and Mortgage.

69. Adequacy - Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a) (4): Plaintiffs are adequate representatives of
the Class because their interests overlap and are not in conflict with the interests of the Class.
Plaintiffs have retained counsel competent and experienced in complex class action litigation,
and Plaintiffs intends to prosecute this action vigorously. The interests of the Class will be fairly
and adequately protected by Plaintiffs and their counsel.

70. The class may be certified pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b) (1). Class
certification is appropriate pursuant to Rule 23(b)(1) because the prosecution of separate actions
by individual members of the classes would create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications
that would establish incompatible standards of conduct for Defendants and/or because
adjudications respecting individual members of the classes would, as a practical matter, be
dispositive of the interests of the other members or would risk substantially impairing or
impending their ability to prosecute their interests.

71.  The class may be certified pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b) (2). Class

certification is appropriate pursuant to Rule 23(b)(2) because Defendants have acted or refused
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to act on grounds generally applicable to all members of the class, thereby making final
injunctive relief or declaratory relief as a whole appropriate. Plaintiffs and members of the
Classes have suffered, and will continue to suffer, harm and damages as a result of Defendants’
unlawful and wrongful conduct.

72.  The class may be certified pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b) (3). A class action is
superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy
under Rule 23(b) (3). Absent a class action, most members of the Classes likely would find the
cost of litigating their claims to be prohibitive, and will have no effective remedy at law. The
class treatment of common questions of law and fact is also superior to multiple individual
actions or piecemeal litigation in that it conserves the resources of the courts and the litigants and
promotes consistency and efficiency of adjudication.

73.  Class certification is also appropriate because this Court can designate particular
claims or issues for class wide treatment pursuant to Rule 23(c)(4)(A) and may designate one or
more subclasses pursuant to Rule 23(c)(4)(B).

VI. COUNTS
COUNT 1

FEDERAL FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT, 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢

74.  Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained in the preceding
paragraphs of this complaint as if set forth in full herein.

75.  Federal law prohibits the use of “any false, deceptive, or misleading
representation or means in connection with the collection of any debt. . .” including the “false
representation of .... the character, amount, or legal status of any debt...” and the “threat to take any
action that cannot legally be taken ...” 15 U.S.C. 1692e.

76.  In foreclosing on or attempting to foreclose on Plaintiffs' homes, the Defendants:
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a. made false, deceptive and misleading representations concerning their
standing to sue the plaintiffs and its interest in the debt;

b. falsely represented the status of the debt, in particular, that it was due and
owing to defendants at the time the suit was filed;

c. falsely represented or implied that the debt was owing to defendants as an
innocent purchaser for value, when in fact, such an assignment had not
been accomplished;

d. threatened to take action, namely engaging in collection activities and
collection and foreclosure suits as trustee that cannot legally be taken by
them; and

e. obtained access to state and federal courts to collect on notes and foreclose

on mortgages under false pretenses, namely, that Defendants were duly
authorized to engage in such activities when in fact they were not.

717. Upon information and belief, Defendants did not, and cannot, obtain and/or file an
assignment of the notes or mortgages of the named Plaintiffs or putative class members.

78.  These violations of the FDCPA entitle Plaintiffs to recover the actual damages
they have sustained as a result of the improper filing of foreclosure suits; statutory damages of up
to $1,000 per class-member and such other or alternative damages as are permitted by law; and costs
and reasonable attorney fees incurred herein.

79. Plaintiffs and putative class members did not know and had no reason to know of the
injury which is the basis is this action until provided with a copy of the Assign;nent by Defendants
DEUTSCHE BANK and U.S. BANK.

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiffs, on their behalf and on behalf of the Class of all persons
similarly situated, requests that this Court enter judgment against the Defendants and award all
damages, costs, and any other relief this Court deems just and proper.

VII. JURY TRIAL DEMAND AND PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs and the Classes request that the Court enter an order or judgment

against Defendants as follows:
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A, Certification of the action or common issues herein as a Class Action, appointment of
Plaintiffs as Class Representatives and counsel of record as Class Counsel, and designate any
appropriate subclasses, for any or all claims and issues, under the applicable class action
provisions;

B. Such coordinated and cooperation as may be appropriate between this Court and
other courts that may exercise jurisdiction over the subject matter of this litigation;

C. A determination of common issues and claims in a unitary consolidated or class
wide trial under Fed. R. Civ. P. 42 and/or 23;

D.  An award of compensatory damages to each injured class member in an amount
deemed appropriate by the trier of facts;

E. An award of pre-judgment and post-judgment interest;

F. Awarding Plaintiffs their costs and expenses in this litigation, including
reasonable attorneys’ fees and expert fees;

G.  An order awarding Plaintiffs and the Class damages and other compensatory relief
as the Court deems proper in the maximum amount allowed by law; and

H.  Any other and further legal and/or equitable relief to which Plaintiffs and class
members might be entitled at law or which this Court deems proper, including, according to
proof, such exemplary or punitive damages as may be necessary and appropriate to punish and
deter any reprehensible or intentional misconduct.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 38(b) Plaintiffs demands a trial by jury on all

issues so triable.

Dated: February __, 2010 By: é{f 19 (§ é&/ﬁuﬂuﬂ/év

THE SZYMONIAK/FIRM, P.A.
Lynn E. Szymoniak, Esq.

18 of 29



19 of 29

Case 9:10-cv-80259-WJZ Document 1 Entered on FLSD Docket 02/17/2010 Page 19 of 29

Florida Bar No: 0331953
The Metropolitan, PH2-05
403 S. Sapodilla Avenue
West Palm Beach, FL. 33401
Telephone: (561) 247-1391

JANET, JENNER & SUGGS, LL.C
Howard A. Janet, Esq.

Hal J. Kleinman, Esq.

1829 Reisterstown Road

Suite 320

Baltimore, Maryland 21208

Telephone: (410) 653-3200

Facsimile: (410) 653-6903

Pro hac vice Motion Filed With Complaint

JANET, JENNER & SUGGS, LLC
Kenneth M. Suggs, Esq.

500 Taylor Street

Columbia, South Carolina 29101
Telephone: (803) 726-0050

Facsimile: (803) 727-1059

Pro hac vice Motion Filed With Complaint

RICHARD A. HARPOOTLIAN, P.A.
Richard A. Harpootlian, Esq.

Grahm L. Newman, Esq.

1410 Laurel Street

Post Office Box 1090

Columbia, South Carolina 29202
Telephone : (803) 252-4848

Pro hac vice Motion Filed With Complaint

Attorneys for Plaintiffs and the Classes
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ASSIGNMEN’*‘*QF MDRTGAGE

FOR GOOD ND VALUARLE' CONSIDERATION’-the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby
acknowledged, SAXON MQRTGAGE, INC., whose address is 1!3340 COX ROAD, GLEN ALLEN, VA
23060, does by these prcsems hereby grant, bargain, sell, assign, ransfer, convey, set over and deliver unto
Deutsche Bank Trus( Company Americas, as Indenture Trustqe-,for Saxon Asset Securities Trust 2006-1,
whose addresjs is 1,?61 East St. Andrew Place, Santa Ana, CA 92705—4934 the following described mortgage,
securing the Qaymem of a certain promissory note(s) for the sum lmc[l below, together with all rights therein
and thereto, all Kens created or secured thereby, all obligations therei described, the money due and to become
due thereon W\th interest, and all rights accrued or to accrue undegsuch mortgage.

Original Bpr;ower(s) KENNETH R SCHNEIDER, A SlN(iLl;f MAN

Original Mongagee SAXON MORTGAGE, INC.

Date of Morlgage 01/26/2006

= .Loan)t&moum $78,000.00

Recording Da}e- 02/23/2006 Book: N/A Page. -NIA Documem #: 2216396
and recorded in tho.ofﬁcml records of the County of Alachua, State of Florida affecting Real Property and

more particularly dexrlbed-ousald.Moﬂgage referred to hcrf.m

IN WITNESS WH‘E@EOF the undersigned has cauwd these presents to‘bb executed on this date of

11/03/2009. T

-~
'
B

.

L
Witness: Baileyiirchner

itjless: Linda Green

State of GA g
County of Fulton ;

AXON MORTGAGE, INgG.

P
3 .

On this date of 11/03/2009, before me the undersigned au&onty, aN‘otary Pubhc duly"commrssxoned
qualified and acting within and for the aforementioned State and" Qoumy, personally appeared the Wxthm
named Jessica Ohde and Rita Knowles, known to me (or identifi ed«&o me on the basi¢ of sansfactory

evidence) that they are the Asst. Vice President and Asst. Vice Preﬂdenn‘espedxvely of SAXON

MORTGAGE, INC., and were duly authorized in their respective capacities to execute the fo‘l’egomg..
instrument for and in the name and in behalf of said corporation and that said corporation e)secuted the same,
and further stated and acknowledged that they had so signed, executed and delivered said mStrument for the

consideration, uses and purposes therein mentioned and set forth. .
itness my hand and official seal on the date hereinabove set forth. K ; P

Notary Public: Shawanna Crite
My Commission Expires: 03/12/2013

21 0f 29

Shawannd Crite
NOTARY PUBLIC
.-Fulton County &

" State of Georq-ra

o v,
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ASSIGNMENT OF MORTGAGE
FOR GOOD AND VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby

acknowledged, American Home Mortgage Servicing, Inc. as successor-in-interest to Option One Mortgage
Corporation, whosc address is 6501 Irvine Center Drive, Irvine, CA 92618, does by these presents hereby
grant, bargain, sell, assign, transfer, convey, set over and deliver unto U.S. Bank National Association, as
Trustee for the Structured Asset Investment Loan Trust, 2005-10, whose address is 180 East Fifth Street
St. Paul, MN §5101, the following described mortgage, securing the payment of a certain promissory note(s)
for the sum listed below, together with all rights therein and thereto, all liens created or secured thereby, all
obligations therein described, the money due and to become due thereon with interest, and al! rights accrued or
to accrue under such mortgage.

Original Borrower(s): GINNIFER GEE UNMARRIED

Original Mortgagee: ADVENT MORTGAGE, LLC, A KENTUCKY LLC

Date of Mortgage: 05/31/2005 Loan Amount: $107,600.00

Recording Date: 06/29/2065  Book: 04087 Page: 0970-0980 Document #: 2005113801

Misc. Comments: ASSIGNMENT EFFECTIVE DATE 1/15/2009

-SEE-ATTACHEDEFGAL DESCRIFFION—~
and recorded in the official records of the County of Marion, State of Florida affecting Real Property and more
particularly described on said Mortgage referred to herein.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused these presents to be executed on this date of
12/01/2009.
American Home Mortgage Servicing, Inc. as
successor-in-interest to Option One Mortgage Corporation

m%\«t"k‘/\

Witness: ANY IKIRKLAND \

Shelly Scheffey
Vice President

Witness:
Debbie Moonan
Asst. Secretary
State of GA
County of Fulton

On this date of 12/01/2009, before me, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public duly commissioned,
qualified and acting within and for the aforementioned State and County, personally appeared the within
named Shelly Scheffey and Debbie Moonan, known to me (or identified to me on the basis of satisfactory
evidence) that they are the Vice President and Asst. Secretary respectively of American Home Mortgage
Servicing, Inc. as successor-in-interest (o Option One Mortgage Corporation, and were duly authorized
in their respective capacitics io execute the foregoing instrumert for and in the name and in behalf of said
corporation and that said corporation executed the same, and further stated and acknowledged that they had so
signed, executed and delivered said instrument for the consideration, uses and purposes therein mentioned and
set forth.

Witness my hand and official seal on the date hereinabove set forth,

@ b@ﬂu—-f Jen e TRIC
Ve NOTARY PUBLIC
Publj Fulton County
State of Georgia

SOURCE DOCUMENTS & INFO INC My Commission Expires

November 19, 2013

404 S MARTIN LUTHER KING JR AVE
CLEARWATER, FL 33756 -
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LEGAL DESCRIPTION:

PARCEL ONE:

BLOCK E, SITE NUMBER 8, IN LAKE DELANCY, INC., OR MORE PARTICULARLY
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

THE SOUTH 50.0 FEET OF THE NORTH 1202.0 FEET TO THE WEST 120.0 FEET OF THE
EAST 840.0 FEET OF THE NE 1/4 OF SECTION 26, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 25
EAST.

PARCEL TWO: .

BLOCK E, SITE NUMBER 9, IN LAKE DELANCY, INC,, OR MORE PARTICULARLY
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

BLOCK E, SLIDE #7, IN LAKE DELANCY, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS
FOLLOWS:

THE SOUTH 50.0 FEET OF THE NORTH 1252.00 FEET OF THE WEST 120.0 FEET OF
THE EAST 840.0 FEET OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 25, TOWNSHIP 12
SOUTH, RANGE 25 EAST, MARION COUNTY, FLORIDA.

BEING THE SAME PROPERTY CONVEYED TO GINNIFER GEE, UNMARRIED, BY
DEED DATED MAY 31, 2005 OF RECORD IN BOOK, PAGE, IN THE OFFICE OF THE
PUBLIC RECORDS OF MARION COUNTY, FLORIDA.

PROJECT A030 (AHMA) 647-46231530
COUNTY: MARION, STATE: FLORIDA

Book5221/Page1680 CFN#2009056782 Page 2 of 2
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HERBRN RNl
ASSIGNMENT OF MORTGAGE

FOR GOOD AND VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby
acknowledged, American Home Mortgage Servicing, Inc. as successor-in-interest to Option One Mortgage
Corporation, whose address is 6501 Irvine Center Drive, Irvine, CA 92618, does by these presents hereby
grant, bargain, sell, assign, transfer, convey, set over and deliver unto U.S, Bank National Association, as
Trustee for the Structured Asset Investment Loan Trust, 2005-10, whose address is 180 East Fifth Street
St. Paul, MN 55101, the following described mortgage, securing the payment of a certain promissory note(s)
for the sum listed below, together with all rights therein and thereto, all liens created or secured thereby, all
obligations therein described, the money due and to become due thereon with interest, and all rights accrued or
to accrue under such mortgage.

Original Borrower(s): GINNIFER GEE UNMARRIED

Original Mortgagee: ADVENT MORTGAGE, LLC, A KENTUCKY LLC

Date of Mortgage: 05/31/2008 Loan Amount: $107,600.00
Recording Date: 06/29/2008 Book: 04087 Page: 0970-0980 Document #: 2005113801
Misc. Comments: ASSIGNMENT EFFECTIVE DATE 1/15/2009

by DOC.

RECORDING FEES 18.50

SEE ATTACHED LEGAL DESCRIPTION
and recorded in the official records of the County of Marion, State of Florida affecting Real Property and more
particularly described on said Mortgage refesred to herein.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused these presents to be executed on this date of
07/01/2009.
American Home Morigage Servicing, Inc. as

successor-in-interest to O Corporation

Wifness: Dawn Williams

KorellMarp
Vice President
%_z‘l_ﬁ-_—‘—__@ﬂ;%é‘—— =
Witness: Christina Huang | BTN
Tywanfia Thomas

Asst. Vice President

State of GA
County of Fulten

On this date of 07/01/2009, before me, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public duly commissioned,
qualified and acting within and for the aforementioned State and County, personally appeared the within
named Korell Harp and Tywanna Thomas, known to me (or identified to me on the basis of satisfactory
evidence) that they are the Vice President and Asst. Vice President respectively of American Home
Mortgage Servicing, Inc. as successor-in-interest to Option One Mortgage Corporation, and were duly
authorized in their respective capacities to execute the foregoing instrument for and in the name and in behalf
of said corporation and that said corporation executed the same, and further stated and acknowledged that
they had so signed, executed and delivered said in§trument for the consideration, uses and purposes therein
mentioned and set forth.

Witness m§ hand and chia(sjl on the datlf hereinabove set fopitawoc Kelll Woolever
f N NOTARY PUBLIC
! Fulton County
State of Georgia
Vet Public—— My Commission Expires
Book5221/Page1679 CFN#2009056782 Page 1 of 2
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TR AR

ASSIGNMENT OF MORTGAGE
FOR GOOD AND VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby

acknowledged, Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. as nominee for American Home Mortgage
Acceptance, Inc., whose address is 6501 Irvine Center Drive, Irvine, CA 92618, does by these presents
hereby grant, bargain, sell, assign, transfer, convey, set over and deliver unto Deutsche bank National Trust
Company as Ilndenture Trustee for American Hoem Mortgage Investment Trust 2006-1
Mortgage-Backed Notes series 2006-1, whose address is 1761 East St. Andrew Place Santa Ana, CA 92705~
4934, the following described mortgage, securing the payment of a certain promissory note(s) for the sum listed
below, together with all rights therein and thereto, all liens created or secured thereby, all obligations therein
described, the money due and to become due thereon with interest, and all rights accrued or to accruc under
such mortgage.

Original Borrower(s): LINDA L SHAFFER AND ALAN L BRESLOW

Original Mortgagee: MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC. AS NOMINEE

FOR AMERICAN HOME MORTGAGE ACCEPTANCE, INC.

Date of Mortgage: 09/21/2005 Loan Amount: $327,725.00

Recording Date: 09/26/2005  Book: 02062 Page: 1282 Document #: 2203926

Misc. Comments: ASSIGNMENT EFFECTIVE DATE: 04/27/2009

‘This Space for Recorder's Use Only

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: LOT 36, GREEBROOK VILLAGE, SUBPHASE KK UNIT 1 A/K/A
GREEBROOK BANKS, A SUBDIVISION ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED IN
PLAT BOOK 45, PAGES 336 THROUGH 40, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF MANATEE
COUNTY, FLORIDA.
and recorded in the official records of the County of Manatee, State of Florida affccting Real Property and
more particularly described on said Mortgage referred to herein.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused these presents to be executed on this date of
05/01/2009.

Mortgage Electronic Registration Sygtems/Inc. as nominee

M for American Home Mortga tan
\

Witness: Dawn Williams

/
KorefHarp 0
Vice President

Witness: Christina Huang d/ kl AMNALAN )\OL\&)/\—’
Tyw3anna Thomas
Asst.% Secretary
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State of GA
County of Fulton

On this date of 05/01/2009, before me, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public duly commissioned,
qualificd and acting within and for the aforementioned State and County, personally appeared the within
named Korell Harp and Tywanna Thomas, known to me (or identified to me on the basis of satisfactory
evidence) that they are the Vice President and Asst. Secretary respectively of Mortgage Electronic
Registration Systems, Inc. as nominee for American Home Mortgage Acceptance, Inc., and were duly
authorized in their respective capacities to execute the foregoing instrument for and in the name and in behalf
of said corporation and that said corporation executed the same, and further stated and acknowledged that
they had so signed, executed and delivered said instrument for the consideration, uses and purposes therein

e )

and.o W. on the date hereinabove set forth.
A2 l” ‘ 36 Eristany Snow
2 e % NOT,
v. - / ARY PUBLIC

.92
Fuiton County

/el
Notary Public:
State of Georgla
My Commission Expires
May 21, 2011

’% - _ix

%‘"*-}‘?
Counvt.
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